RECEIVED

Mar 09 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Newberry County

Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RICKY BERNARD BROWN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-001600

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial judge erred in refusing to instruct the jury on not guilty by reason of insanity and guilty but mentally ill where there was evidence presented to the jury that Appellant did not have the mental capacity to distinguish between right and wrong and also that Appellant was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Newberry County Grand Jury for two counts of kidnapping, two counts of pointing and presenting a firearm, and one count of possession of a firearm by a person convicted of a violent crime. R. 427-430, 432-433, 435-436, 438-439. Appellant's trial was held before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury from November 16 – 19, 2020. Appellant was represented by Charles Verner. The state was represented by Dale Scott and Taylor Daniel. R. 1.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 382, l. 14 – 383, l. 9. Appellant was sentenced to life without the possibility of parole pursuant to Section 17-25-45 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. R. 391, l. 18 – 392, l. 14.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases an appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id.

“The law to be charged is determined from the facts presented at trial.” State v. Lewis, 328 S.C. 273, 278, 494 S.E.2d 115, 117 (1997). The appellate courts “will not reverse a circuit court's decision to deny a specific request to charge unless the circuit court committed an error of law.” State v. Curry, 410 S.C. 46, 52, 762 S.E.2d 721, 724 (Ct. App. 2014). “A requested charge on insanity is properly refused where there is *no* evidence tending to show the defendant was insane at the time of the crime charged.” Lewis, 328 S.C. at 278, 494 S.E.2d at 117 (emphasis added).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 2, 2019, Appellant arrived at the Newberry County branch of the South Carolina Vocational Rehabilitation Department (Voc Rehab) and asked to speak with Sonya Byrd. R. 79, l. 1 – 81, l. 20. Byrd was a counselor at Voc Rehab and had previously provided Appellant with substance abuse counseling, employment counseling, and mental health treatment. R. 150, l. 11 – 151, l. 4.

Appellant had called Byrd earlier that morning between 10:00 and 11:00 and told her that he was suicidal. R. 151, l. 12 – 153, l. 20. Appellant also told Byrd that he was not currently on his medication and that he was “taking street drugs, illegal drugs.” R. 153, l. 20 – 154, l. 3. Byrd got off the phone with Appellant and called his sister to “see what’s going on.” R. 154, l. 4 – 155, l. 8. Byrd arranged for Appellant’s sister to give Appellant a ride to Laurens Memorial Hospital so that he could be admitted for treatment. R. 155, l. 9 – 156, l. 12.

Byrd testified that she was surprised when Appellant showed up at her office to speak with her and she asked Appellant why his sister had not taken him to the hospital. R. 156, l. 13 – 157, l. 5. Appellant told Byrd about some of his recent hardships, including his grandfather dying, his cousin committing suicide, and his girlfriend having a miscarriage. R. 157, ll. 6 – 20. After several more minutes of talking, Appellant pulled a gun out of his pocket. Byrd asked Appellant why he had a gun and she recalled that he said: “I’m tired. I’m tired of this. I’ve had enough. They won’t give me my medication.” R. 160, ll. 3 – 16. Appellant then pointed the gun at the ceiling and fired one shot.¹ R. 160, ll. 15 – 21.

¹ From the time that Appellant fired the first shot into the ceiling until the time he was apprehended by law enforcement was approximately one hour and twenty minutes. See State’s Exhibit 2 (Surveillance Footage on file with this Court).

Several other employees at Voc Rehab were in a conference room in the back of the building when they heard the gunshot. R. 128, l. 4 – 129, l. 21. Cheri Braswell, who was also a counselor at Voc Rehab, recalled that after she heard the gunshot, she and the other employees started to walk towards the main entrance to the building. R. 130, l. 19 – 131, l. 14. Braswell said she saw Appellant waving a gun and Byrd was screaming his name. While Braswell and the other employees were trying to get out of the building, Appellant grabbed her by the back of the head. R. 131, l. 15 – 132, l. 10.

According to Braswell, when Appellant grabbed her from behind, he told her that she could not leave. R. 133, ll. 287, l. 16 – 134, l. 3. Braswell claimed that Appellant stated he was not going to go outside and that “they” were going to have to come inside and “get him.” R. 134, ll. 4 – 23. Braswell said that she feared for her life and believed that she could not escape the building without being shot. R. 136, ll. 11 – 22.

Byrd testified that she tried to put herself between Appellant and Braswell and pleaded with Appellant not to hurt Braswell and to put the gun down. R. 161, l. 21 – 162, l. 10. Byrd called 911 and while she was speaking with the operator, she told Braswell to leave the building. R. 162, l. 17 – 163, l. 4. Braswell recalled that Appellant let her go and she left the building out of the side door. R. 137, ll. 3 – 15.

After Braswell left the building, only Appellant and Byrd remained inside. R. 163, ll. 21 – 22. Byrd recalled that she thought about attempting to flee, but she was afraid that Appellant would shoot her if she ran. R. 165, l. 3 – 166, l. 23. Byrd maintained that the whole time she was with Appellant in the office she was talking to him and trying to calm him down. R. 167, ll. 4 – 16. According to Byrd, Appellant told her that he had gone to the Department of Mental

Health before coming to Voc Rehab and that he was planning to “shoot everybody” there because they would not give him his medicine. R. 167, l. 17 – 168, l. 16.

At some point while Appellant and Byrd were the only people still in the building, Byrd said that Appellant spoke with his aunt on the phone. After Appellant spoke with his aunt, Byrd recalled that Appellant let her leave: “After he spoke to his aunt, he looked at me in such a way, just like the bodily [sic] language changed that he had in the lobby, I saw that change. His eyes, his demeanor, he looked at me and he said, you can go now, Sonya, you need to leave, and I left.” R. 171, ll. 9 – 16. Byrd said she tried to persuade Appellant to put the gun down and come with her, but he did not. Byrd stepped outside the building and as she started to walk away, she heard gunshots and then she ran until she reached the police officers who were outside.² R. 171, l. 17 – 172, l. 9.

Moments after Byrd exited the building, numerous law enforcement officers entered the building and arrested Appellant. See State’s Ex. 2 at 1:37:00 – 1:40:30. Appellant can be seen on the video placing a gun on the floor in front of the door which was ultimately recovered by the officers and determined to be a .357 magnum revolver. R. 221, l. 20 – 222, l. 14.

² It was later discovered that Appellant shot the gun four more times into the ceiling and walls after Byrd exited the building. R. 226, l. 19 – 228, l. 13.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in refusing to instruct the jury on not guilty by reason of insanity and guilty but mentally ill because there was evidence presented to the jury that Appellant did not have the mental capacity to distinguish between right and wrong and also that Appellant was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law.

Relevant Facts

Prior to Appellant's trial, the judge held a Blair³ hearing to determine whether Appellant was competent to stand trial. Dr. Casey Gregiore, with the University of South Carolina School of Medicine, was called by the state and qualified as an expert in the field of forensic psychiatry. R. 6, l. 14 – 9, l. 8. Dr. Gregiore conducted an evaluation on Appellant for both his competency to stand trial and his criminal responsibility. Court's Exhibits 1 and 2 (Evaluations on file with this Court).

Dr. Gregiore opined that Appellant was competent to stand trial and criminally responsible for his actions on October 2, 2019. R. 9, l. 22 – 10, l. 2; R. 13, ll. 13 – 22. Specifically, Dr. Gregiore opined that Appellant had both the ability to determine right from wrong and the ability to conform his actions to the requirements of the law. R. 13, l. 23 – 15, l. 3. Dr. Gregiore diagnosed Appellant with antisocial personality disorder, alcohol use disorder, cannabis use disorder, and methamphetamine disorder. R. 100, ll. 2 – 11.

On cross-examination, Dr. Gregiore acknowledged that Appellant was prescribed with antipsychotic medication while housed at the Newberry County jail and that Appellant had an extensive history of self-harm and self-mutilation. R. 17, l. 1 – 18, l. 3. Specifically, Dr. Gregiore testified that Appellant was a "cutter" who had multiple permanent scars on his arms

³ State v. Blair, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981).

consistent with cutting himself. R. 18, l. 4 – 19, l. 3. Furthermore, Dr. Gregiore acknowledged that Appellant admitted to previously cutting his abdomen open and exposing his own intestines. R. 19, ll. 4 – 7.

Appellant had also been previously diagnosed by other doctors as suffering from bipolar disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, borderline personality disorder, and unspecified depressive disorder. Although Dr. Gregiore disagreed with those diagnoses, he admitted that these diagnoses could result in a person not understanding the difference between right and wrong and not being able to conform their conduct to the requirements of the law. R. 19, l. 8 – 24, l. 22. Dr. Gregiore acknowledged he was aware that Appellant had been complaining that his prescription medications were not controlling his behavior. R. 27, ll. 12 – 15. Dr. Gregiore did not testify before the jury at Appellant’s trial.

Shelly Remion, an administrative assistant with the Department of Mental Health in Newberry, testified that around 12:30 p.m., on October 2, 2019, Appellant came to the office asking to speak with his mental health counselor. R. 70, l. 10 – 72, l. 25. Remion recognized Appellant as being one of the Department’s current mental health patients. R. 75, ll. 10 – 16. She further testified that Appellant stated he wanted to speak with his counselor because his medicine had been “making him feel weird.” R. 72, ll. 12 – 19. Remion informed Appellant that his mental health counselor was away for lunch and Appellant left the office. R. 73, l. 3 – 74, l. 13.

Sonya Byrd, who was Appellant’s counselor at Voc Rehab, testified that she was “very aware” of Appellant’s mental health background and that his mental health history was substantial. R. 185, l. 22 – 186, l. 17. Byrd recalled that Appellant had been diagnosed with schizophrenia, PTSD, and suicidal ideations. R. 186, l. 24 – 187, l. 3. Byrd acknowledged that

Appellant's suicidal ideations may have been a symptom of his mental illnesses. R. 187, l. 4 – 188, l. 14. Byrd was aware of Appellant's history of cutting himself and that Appellant had profound cutting injuries all over his body. R. 188, l. 15 – 189, l. 4. Byrd believed Appellant was in fact suicidal on October 2, 2019 and was intending to either commit suicide himself or commit "suicide by cop." R. 202, l. 10 – 204, l. 25. Finally, Byrd stated that she believed Appellant was mentally ill at the time of the incident. R. 209, ll. 17 – 19.

After both sides rested, defense counsel asked the judge to instruct the jury on both not guilty by reason of insanity (NGRI) and guilty but mentally ill (GBMI). R. 299, l. 8 – 300, l. 13. Counsel pointed out that the "any evidence" standard should apply and, because there was evidence in the record supporting Appellant's claim of mental illness, the jury should be instructed on both. The jury would then decide whether Appellant was guilty, not guilty, not guilty by reason of insanity, or guilty but mentally ill. R. 300, l. 14 – 301, l. 21.

The trial judge acknowledged that evidence was presented that Appellant had several mental health diagnoses but asked defense counsel what evidence beyond that was presented to show Appellant did not know the difference between right or wrong or that he was unable to conform his conduct to the law. R. 301, l. 22 – 302, l. 25. Counsel cited to State v. Curry, 410 S.C. 46, 762 S.E.2d 721 (Ct. App. 2014) and State v. Hartfield, 300 S.C. 469, 388 S.E.2d 802 (1990) to support his contention that the jury should be charged on NGRI and GBMI if there was evidence that the defendant had mental illness coupled with lay testimony that was consistent with the defendant not being able to control his behavior. R. 305, l. 2 – 307, l. 20.

The trial judge asked defense counsel if his position was that the "any evidence" standard was met based solely on Appellant having been diagnosed with certain mental illnesses. Counsel responded that it was not just Appellant's diagnoses but also the testimony of Byrd who agreed

that Appellant was mentally ill and acting in an irrational and suicidal manner. The entire alleged criminal offense occurred during a time period when Appellant was actively suicidal and exhibiting irrational behavior per the testimony of Byrd and a jury could find, based on her testimony, that Appellant did not know right from wrong or was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. R. 310, l. 2 – 311, l. 9.

The solicitor argued that State v. Rimert, 315 S.C. 527, 446 S.E.2d 400 (1994) stood for the proposition that the judge had to either charge both NGRI and GBMI or neither. The solicitor argued: “I think we first have to analyze whether not guilty by reason of insanity is applicable. If it’s not, none of it is. If that doesn’t come in, then guilty but mentally ill does not come in either.” R. 312, ll. 1 – 25. The solicitor further argued that “antisocial behavior alone . . . is not enough to get to the point where because of mental disease or [defect] he lacks sufficient capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of [the] law.” R. 313, ll. 7 – 25.

The judge asked defense counsel if he agreed that “it’s all or none.” Defense counsel responded that he was requesting both verdicts to be charged and that “the Rimert case did say the proper verdict form would include both.” R. 314, l. 16 – 315, l. 9. The solicitor and defense counsel also agreed that the trial judge could consider evidence from both the trial and the pretrial competency hearing in making his determination. R. 315, ll. 10 – 16. The judge then took the matter under advisement. R. 319, ll. 11 – 13.

The judge ultimately ruled: “[I]n light of 17-24-30 and Rimert, 315 S.C. 527, which appears to say, if I charge one, I would have to charge both. And I do not believe that the evidence warrants charging both, so I will not charge either.” R. 321, l. 1 – 322, l. 2. Counsel argued that although he did not call an expert witness to dispute Dr. Gregiore’s findings, “the inference from his behavior could support the burden.” R. 322, l. 25 – 323, l. 10.

Discussion

The trial judge erred in refusing to charge the jury on the verdicts of not guilty by reason of insanity (NGRI) and guilty but mentally ill (GBMI) because there was evidence in the record, primarily through the testimony of Sonya Byrd, from which the jury could have concluded that Appellant was mentally ill or insane at the time of the incident. The judge further erred in stating that because the evidence did not support charging *both* verdicts, he would charge *neither*.

South Carolina law provides for the verdicts of both NGRI and GBMI. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-24-30. Criminal defendants are presumed to be sane so that the state does not have to affirmatively prove sanity in every criminal case. State v. Milian-Hernandez, 287 S.C. 183, 185, 336 S.E.2d 476, 477 (1985). “However, when the defendant offers evidence of insanity, the presumption disappears and it is incumbent on the state to present evidence from which a jury could find the defendant sane.” Id.

In a trial where the defense sufficiently raises the issue of his mental illness or insanity, the verdict form *must* include four options: “(1) guilty; (2) not guilty; (3) not guilty by reason of insanity; or (4) guilty but mentally ill.” State v. Rimert, 315 S.C. 527, 531, 446 S.E.2d 400, 402 (1994). Expert testimony is not necessary to prove insanity or mental illness; lay testimony may be sufficient. State v. Lewis, 328 S.C. 273, 278, 494 S.E.2d 115, 117 (1997). “In fact, a jury may disregard expert testimony.” Id.; see also State v. Poindexter, 314 S.C. 490, 493-94, 431 S.E.2d 254, 256 (1993) (holding that “[t]he jury was free to rely on circumstantial evidence to find Poindexter sane even though expert testimony favored a finding that he was insane”).

A defendant is NGRI if, at the time of the commission of the alleged criminal offense, the defendant did not have the mental capacity to distinguish right from wrong or to recognize the alleged criminal offense as being legally or morally wrong. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-24-10(A);

State v. Grimes, 292 S.C. 204, 206, 355 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1987). “In South Carolina, the key to insanity is the power of the defendant to distinguish right from wrong in the act itself—to recognize the act complained of is either morally or legally wrong.” State v. Wilson, 306 S.C. 498, 506, 413 S.E.2d 19, 23 (1992) (cleaned up). The burden of proof is on the defendant to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he was insane. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-24-10(B).

A defendant is GBMI if, at the time of the commission of the alleged criminal offense, the defendant had the mental capacity to distinguish right from wrong but did not have the mental capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-24-20(A); State v. Poindexter, 314 S.C. 490, 493, 431 S.E.2d 254, 255 (1993). The burden of proof is on the defendant to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he was mentally ill at the time of the alleged offense. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-24-20(B).

In State v. Poindexter, 314 S.C. 490, 493-94, 431 S.E.2d 254, 256 (1993), the defendant presented lay testimony that he exhibited behavioral changes in the months prior to the murder for which he was charged. The defendant also presented an expert witness who testified that he was unable to absorb vitamin B-12 and was insane as a result. The jury rejected Poindexter’s insanity defense and instead found him GBMI. Id. at 491-492, 431 S.E.2d at 254. The Supreme Court affirmed the trial court’s refusal to direct a verdict of NGRI because the prosecution presented lay testimony that Poindexter fled after the murder, appeared normal within hours of the murder, and was cooperative during the arrest. The Poindexter Court found that this lay witness testimony was sufficient for the jury to determine that Poindexter was sane at the time of the offense. Id. at 494, 431 S.E.2d at 256.

Just as the state could rely on lay witness testimony to prove sanity in Poindexter, here, Appellant was free to rely on lay witness testimony to prove his insanity. It was undisputed at

trial that Appellant had a long and significant history with mental illness. His former counselor, Sonya Byrd, acknowledged Appellant's numerous mental health diagnoses along with his suicidal and irrational behavior on the date of the incident. Byrd also acknowledged Appellant's history of engaging in self-mutilation by cutting himself. Furthermore, Byrd testified that she believed Appellant was mentally ill at the time of the incident. R. 209, ll. 17 – 19. This testimony was sufficient evidence for the jury to consider whether Appellant was either NGRI or GBMI.

In State v. Curry, 410 S.C. 46, 54-55, 762 S.E.2d 721, 726 (Ct. App. 2014), this Court held that the failure of the trial judge to instruct the jury on the verdict of GBMI was reversible error where evidence was presented from which the jury could have concluded that the defendant was mentally ill. In Curry, the defendant was charged with throwing feces on a corrections officer at the Lexington County jail. The state's expert witness testified that Curry did not lack the capacity to distinguish between right and wrong and was therefore not insane at the time of the offense. Id. at 49-50, 762 S.E.2d at 723.

Curry called a counselor with the Department of Mental Health who testified that Curry had a history of mental illness and had become more isolated and less engaging with her questions leading up to the date of the incident. Id. She further testified that Curry was suffering from "mania" at the time of the incident. Curry also called a psychiatrist with the Department of Mental Health who maintained that Curry had recently been refusing to answer her questions and had been showing no emotions or expressions. However, the psychiatrist refused to opine on whether Curry understood whether his actions were right or wrong. Id. at 51, 762 S.E.2d at 723-24. Curry's mother and daughter also testified that he had a long history of mental illness and Curry testified that he did not remember throwing feces on the officer. Id.

This Court found that the counselor's testimony--that Curry was manic at the time of the incident--coupled with other lay witness testimony regarding Curry's history of mental illness, was sufficient to warrant a jury instruction on GBMI. Id. at 53, 762 S.E.2d at 725. The Curry Court specifically rejected the state's argument that Curry was not entitled to a charge on GBMI because he failed to present a witness who stated Curry could not distinguish from right and wrong. Id.

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