RECEIVED

Feb 18 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Newberry County
Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2020-001600

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

RICKY BERNARD BROWN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 842-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

without any evidence supporting a conclusion Appellant met the legal definition of insanity at the time of his crimes, the trial judge correctly declined to submit the issue of insanity to the jury. See Lewis, 328 S.C. at 278, 494 S.E.2d at 117 (instructing a request for an insanity jury instruction is properly refused when there is no evidence tending to show the defendant was insane at the time of the crime); cf. Meredith v. State, 370 So. 2d 1075, 1078 (Ala. Crim. App. 1979) (“Unusual or weird behavior alone cannot be equated with mental insanity.”); Lickliter v. Commonwealth, 142 S.W.3d 65, 68 (Ky. 2004) (“The two defense experts did not give any opinion that Lickliter suffered from insanity as defined by [the applicable Kentucky statute]. At best, they recited only symptoms. Thus, Lickliter was not entitled to an insanity instruction and the trial judge properly rejected the requested instruction.”); State v. Davis, 334 S.E.2d 509, 512 (N.C. Ct. App. 1985) (“[Davis] offered no expert testimony on his mental condition or mental history. [Davis]’s only conceivable evidence on the issue of insanity was his testimony on numerous occasions that he lost his mind, went blind or something, went pure bizarre, was so mixed up right then, was all to pieces, and went completely out of his mind. This testimony fails to show any evidence of insanity, either permanent or temporary. . . . There was no evidence of insanity, and it is not error to refuse to instruct on insanity when there is no evidence of such.” (brackets and internal quotations omitted)); Jacobson v. State, 684 P.2d 556, 561 (Okla. Crim. App. 1984) (finding the trial judge properly declined to instruct the jury on insanity where evidence was presented establishing Jacobson suffered from post-traumatic stress disorder, nerves, acute anxiety, depression, and suicidal thoughts but nothing was presented from Jacobson or any other witness indicating he did not have an ability to distinguish right from wrong at the time of his victim’s death).

Similarly, looking to the guilty but mentally ill issue, there was no evidence presented during Appellant's trial that could support a conclusion he lacked sufficient capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law at the time of the incident. Instead, similar to what occurred in Harris, all that was presented during Appellant's trial concerning his mental health was testimony and evidence suggesting he generally suffered from mental issues, had claimed to be suicidal, had been diagnosed with various conditions like post-traumatic stress disorder in the past, had been prescribed with medication, and had committed the unlawful acts involved in the incident. Cf. Harris, 318 S.C. at 180-181, 456 S.E.2d at 435 (concluding testimony indicating Harris was "out of control" and using poor judgment at the time of the incident was not sufficient to warrant submitting the issue of guilty but mentally ill to the jury because such testimony "[i]n no way" indicated Harris lacked sufficient capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law due to mental disease or defect as required for a verdict of guilty but mentally ill). Critically though, none of that evidence established Appellant lacked sufficient capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law as the result of any mental disease or defect, and nothing was presented to draw such a required connection between Appellant's mental health and his actions at the time of the incident for the jury. See State v. Bell, 293 S.C. 391, 398, 360 S.E.2d 706, 710 (1987) (finding the issue of whether Bell was guilty but mentally ill was a disputed matter that was properly submitted to the jury where Bell "introduced lay and expert evidence during his case that he was mentally ill, *as defined by § 17-24-20(A)*, at the time the crime was committed" (emphasis added)); cf. Harris, 318 S.C. at 181, 456 S.E.2d at 435 ("Ariel only vaguely opined Harris's judgment was impaired and he was out of control at the time of the incident. In no way do her statements indicate, as required for a verdict of guilty but mentally ill, that because of a mental disease or defect Harris lacked sufficient capacity to

conform his conduct to the requirements of the law.” (citation, internal quotations, and brackets omitted)). Likewise, although not categorically required, no expert testimony was presented to support a conclusion Appellant lacked the capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law, which likely did not happen due to the fact every expert—both court-ordered and defense-retained—that evaluated Appellant after the incident reached the opposite conclusion. Cf. Downs, 361 S.C. at 144, 604 S.E.2d at 379 (concluding evidence of mental illness in the context of guilty but mentally ill was presented when Downs offered expert testimony suggesting his “mental condition rendered him unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law, that is, he was mentally ill”). Meanwhile, Appellant did not personally testify or claim he had been unable to conform his conduct when he committed his crimes, and his earlier account of the incident, which was admitted into evidence during trial, similarly did not contain any statements suggesting he had been unable to conform or control his conduct at the time of the incident. Instead, that account demonstrated his thought process on date of the incident was reality-based and purpose-driven. Moreover, nothing was presented suggesting Appellant was manic, delusional, or unable to comprehend reality at the time of the crimes. Cf. State v. Curry, 410 S.C. 46, 54, 762 S.E.2d 721, 725 (Ct. App. 2014) (“[W]e find Dr. Means’s opinion that Curry suffered from mania at the time of the incident combined with other lay and expert testimony on Curry’s antisocial conduct, odd mannerisms, and isolationist behavior indicate his mental illness may have prevented Curry from being able to conform his conduct to the law at the time of this offense. We also find Curry’s affirmative actions of stockpiling his feces under his sink and placing feces on his face and clothing at the time of the offense created a jury question as to whether he truly appreciated the nature of his actions. Arguably, if Curry was willing to smear them on himself, the jury could reasonably conclude he lacked the requisite

mental capacity to be able to abide by the law.”). Beyond that, the evidence presented during trial repeatedly demonstrated Appellant *could*, in fact, conform his conduct to the requirements of the law during the incident. Specifically, it showed Appellant: (1) abandoned his anger-based plan to kill his doctor and counselor at the Department of Mental Health; (2) allowed the people at the Vocational Rehabilitation Department to flee despite having an opportunity to stop them by shooting them; (3) affirmatively stated he was not going to hurt Braswell when asked not to do so; (4) took his finger off the trigger of his gun when asked to do so; (5) did not use his methamphetamine pipe when asked not to do so; (6) emptied his gun and placed it out of his own reach before surrendering to officers; (7) put his hands up to signal his submission when surrendering to officers; (8) allowed himself to be taken into custody without incident; and (9) abandoned his plan to engage in a shoot-out with police. Thus, in light of the fact there was an absence of evidence demonstrating Appellant lacked capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law coupled with the fact there was a plethora of evidence expressly demonstrating Appellant did possess the capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law on the date of the incident, there was nothing presented during trial upon which a factfinder could reasonably conclude the legal requirements for a guilty but mentally ill verdict had been met in Appellant’s case without resorting to rank speculation. See State v. Washington, 431 S.C. 394, 411, 848 S.E.2d 779, 788 (2020) (finding the trial judge committed reversible error by presenting a jury instruction that “invited the jury to speculate” due to the absence of evidentiary support for the instruction); cf. Milford v. State, 57 So. 96, 97 (Ala. Ct. App. 1911) (“A jury have no right to infer the existence of insanity from the existence of a cause which may have some tendency to produce it, unless there is some evidence before them that insanity actually followed as a result of the possible cause.”). As a result, the trial judge correctly

declined to present a jury instruction on guilty but mentally ill that was not supported by any evidence.⁷

For all those reasons, the trial judge, who otherwise presented instructions that fully provided the jurors with all the relevant law needed for them to be able to properly decide

⁷ In challenging the trial judge’s ruling regarding the guilty but mentally ill jury instruction on appeal, Appellant appears to suggest the trial judge committed an error of law by interpreting the Rimert decision—and, by extension, Section 17-24-30—to preclude the presentation of a guilty but mentally ill jury instruction in the absence of an instruction on insanity. (App. Br. pp. 14-15). In light of the underlying purpose of guilty but mentally ill verdicts, a number of states with such verdicts have reached similar conclusions that a guilty but mentally ill verdict is not warranted in the absence of an insanity verdict. *See, e.g., People v. Adamcyk*, 631 N.E.2d 407, 413 (Ill. App. Ct. 1994) (“A defendant cannot be found GBMI unless he raises the defense of insanity.”); *People v. McLain*, 589 N.E.2d 1116, 1119 (Ill. App. Ct. 1992) (“The concept of guilty but mentally ill . . . may come to the jurors’ attention within the framework of an insanity defense. Mental illness, in and of itself, is not an affirmative defense but may be accepted as a finding when the affirmative defense of insanity is raised. Guilty but mentally ill may also be the subject of a jury instruction and may be returned as a special verdict, but, again, only if an insanity defense has been presented at trial. In sum, as we read the statute, it was not intended that guilty but mentally ill should be a plea to a jury. Moreover, there is no contention here that defense counsel presented an insanity defense. Therefore, there was no statutory basis which would have warranted presenting defendant’s guilty but mentally ill position to the jury.” (citations omitted)); *Commonwealth v. Andrews*, 158 A.3d 1260, 1263-1264 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2017) (“[A] defendant who pleads **not guilty** may be found by a fact-finder to be guilty but mentally ill only if the defendant offers a defense of insanity. The reason for this rule is that, under Pennsylvania law, mental illness is not a defense to criminal liability unless the mental illness rises to the level of legal insanity.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)); *Commonwealth v. Andre*, 17 A.3d 951, 961 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2011) (“[U]nless a person pleads guilty but mentally ill, the guilty but mentally ill verdict only arises in the context of a legal insanity defense.”). However, even assuming the trial judge’s determination in that regard was incorrect pursuant to South Carolina law, his decision not to instruct the jury on guilty but mentally ill nonetheless did not constitute reversible error because—just as the trial judge *also* recognized—there was no evidence presented supporting such an instruction. *See Sec. & Exch. Comm’n v. Chenery Corp.*, 318 U.S. 80, 88 (1943) (“[I]n reviewing the decision of a lower court, it must be affirmed if the result is correct although the lower court relied upon a wrong ground or gave a wrong reason. The reason for this rule is obvious. It would be wasteful to send a case back to a lower court to reinstate a decision which it had already made but which the appellate court concluded should properly be based on another ground within the power of the appellate court to formulate.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)); *State v. Goodstein*, 278 S.C. 125, 128, 292 S.E.2d 791, 793 (1982) (“An appellate court . . . is not, as a general rule, bound by the reasoning adopted below if the record discloses a correct result. . . . No principle in the disposition of appeals is more firmly established than that a right decision upon a wrong ground will be affirmed.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)).

Appellant's case, correctly declined to present jury instructions on insanity and guilty but mentally ill that were not supported by the evidence presented and, thus, could have only served to confuse and distract the jurors during their deliberations.⁸ See Lewis, 328 S.C. at 278, 494 S.E.2d at 117 (“A requested charge on insanity is properly refused where there is no evidence tending to show the defendant was insane at the time of the crime charged.”); State v. Rothell, 301 S.C. 168, 169-170, 391 S.E.2d 228, 229 (1990) (“It is error to give instructions which may confuse or mislead the jury.”); see also State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 252, 263, 565 S.E.2d 298, 304 (2002) (“Failure to give requested jury instructions is not prejudicial error where the instructions given afford the proper test for determining the issues.”); cf. Gardner, 219 S.C. at 106, 64 S.E.2d at 135 (affirming the trial judge's decision not to instruct the jury on insanity because there was no evidence supporting such a charge). Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

⁸ Moreover, even if the evidence presented during trial could have somehow been minimally sufficient to raise one or both of the issues of insanity and guilty but mentally ill, Appellant nonetheless could not have been prejudiced by the trial judge's failure to present those instructions to the jury because the vague and general mental health evidence presented could not possibly have supported a conclusion Appellant was insane or guilty but mentally ill by the required showing of a preponderance of the evidence needed to sustain such verdicts. See State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2003) (“To warrant reversal, a trial judge's charge must be both erroneous and *prejudicial*.” (emphasis added)); State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct. App. 2005) (“To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.”); see also Black's Law Dictionary 1301 (9th ed. 2009) (defining “preponderance of the evidence” as “[t]he greater weight of the evidence, not necessarily established by the greatest number of witnesses testifying to a fact but by evidence that has the most convincing force; superior evidentiary weight that, though not sufficient to free the mind wholly from all reasonable doubt, is still sufficient to incline a fair and impartial mind to one side of the issue rather than the other”); cf. State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 319, 755 S.E.2d 432, 436 (2014) (concluding the trial judge erred by failing to instruct the jury on a lesser-included offense but finding that error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the evidence presented).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.